

Historic Assessment

Property Address: 819 Freeman Dr

1. Application Details

Applicant: Felicia Gonzales

Type: Historic Landmark Designation

Date Received: 8 July 2023

2. Findings

The structure at 819 Freeman Dr is a two-story Tudor Revival residence built c. 1929 by the American Building Company as a model home for the Woodlawn Hills developers G & H Hagelstein. It is located in City Council District 7. The current owners are Felicia, Celestine, and Jovonne Gonzales.

The Woodlawn Hills neighborhood was subdivided in 1923. George Hagelstein purchased the land from Bruce Waring, who had a large home on the property, in 1921. Waring bought the property in 1907 from W. H. Taliaferro and Adolph Wilbacher. The surrounding area included several ranches and dairies, including Sunshine Ranch operated by the Maverick Family and St. Cloud Dairy. The Waring home still stood on the property at the time of purchase; today it is located on the campus of the International Bible School at 101 Faith Dr.

Advertisements for Woodlawn Hills appealed to families that desired a more rural feel with large lots and deep setbacks. The neighborhood predated the paving of many of the main roads in the area, including Donaldson, Sunshine, Callaghan, St. Cloud, and Woodlawn (which includes what is now Freeman). George and Henry Hagelstein's families lived in the neighborhood as early as 1922.

In 1929, a newspaper advertisement included a large elevation of this home that had just been completed, along with three other "English suburban manors." By 1930, classified ads indicate that American Building Company was in receivership and advertised this structure (3745 W Woodlawn) for sale. The home was sold in 1934 to Walter and Frances Henshaw and then again to JG and Ila Callan in 1937.

The Callans were part of a prominent ranching family from Menard County. J.G. "Buddy" Callan managed the local branch of Fort Worth based Cassidy Livestock Commission Company, operating ranches in Menard and Atascosa counties. His son Francis also worked at the Cassidy office in the Union Stockyards. Francis and his family later lived on Sunshine Dr, not far from his childhood home. Buddy died in 1960, and Ila "Doll" sold the home to the Gonzales family in 1962.

Lonzo "TK" and Joventina "Willie" Gonzales were married in 1949. Willie moved to San Antonio from Stockdale in 1944 to attend Draughon's Business College. TK served during WWII and later owned and

¹ Bexar County Clerk property records, Volume 642 p 95.

² "Buys Large Tract," San Antonio Light, 12 May 1921, p. 20.

³ "Realty and Building," San Antonio Express, 7 December 1907, p. 9 and 24 December 1907, p. 12.

⁴ "Big Road Project for Hill District," San Antonio Express, 7 September 1930, p. 2C.

⁵ "San Antonio Society," San Antonio Evening News, 14 December 1922, p. 8.

⁶ "4 Beautiful Rock ABC Homes Open Today In Woodlawn Hills," San Antonio Light, 17 February 1929, p. 7-4.

⁷ Bexar County Clerk property records, Volume 1442 p 104; Volume 1597 p.543.



operated Gonzales Garage with his brother. TK and Willie raised their seven children in their home at 819 Freeman. The Gonzales family continues to own and reside there over sixty years later.

3. Architectural Description

The residence at 819 Freeman is a two-story Tudor Revival style structure with varied exterior materials including fieldstone and wood/stucco to create a half-timber effect. The composition shingle roof has front-facing overlapping gables, a side gabled wing, and gabled and shed dormers. Original windows have been replaced with two over two metal windows, maintaining the original fenestration pattern of the design. The front door features a distinctive cast stone door surround with a tudor arch and tabbed masonry detail. The chimney on the rear façade is fieldstone crowned with decorative chimney pots. There is an unusual hexagonal two story tower on the rear elevation. Alterations include a carport with a shed roof on the west elevation and a carport with a flat roof in the rear.

On the eastern elevation a recessed screened porch is tucked under catslide roof. The porch exterior has decorative framing with large timbers that have the appearance of being hand-hewn. Half-timbering is unusual on the first floor, but on this property it appears both on the main structure and on the two story garage located to the west of the residence. Some of the windows on the garage as well as in the rear of the main structure have diamond shape panes; it is likely that these were the original design of most, if not all, of the windows.

Character-defining features of 819 Freeman Dr include:

- Field stone and half-timbering on exterior
- Roof form with overlapping gables, catslide (sweeping curve), hexagonal tower, and dormers
- Cast stone door surround
- Half-timber two story garage
- Large lot and deep setback maintaining a rural feel

4. Landmark Criteria

The property meets three criteria under UDC 35-607(b):

- 3: Its identification with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the development of the community, county, state, or nation; For its association with the Hagelsteins, prominent local developers that subdivided and lived in Woodlawn Hills in the 1920s and 1930s, and the Callan family, prominent ranchers operating a livestock company at the Union Stock Yards for decades.
- 5: Its embodiment of distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials; as an excellent example of the Tudor Revival "English suburban manor" with character defining features including field stone and half-timber exterior, unique roof form, distinctive cast stone door surround, half-timber two story garage, and large lot with deep setback.
- 11. It is distinctive in character, interest or value; strongly exemplifies the cultural, economic, social, ethnic or historical heritage of San Antonio, Texas or the United States; as the multigenerational home of the Gonzales family from 1962 through today, representing a

⁸ Obituary of Joventina "Willie" *Rodriguez* Gonzales, < https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/195673632/joventinagonzales>.



- significant social tradition in San Antonio of maintaining multi-generational households and ownership.
- 13: It bears an important and significant relationship to other distinctive structures, sites, or areas, either as an important collection of properties or architectural style or craftsmanship with few intrusions, or by contributing to the overall character of the area according to the plan based on architectural, historic or cultural motif; one of the model homes built for the Woodlawn Hills development in the late 1920s.

5. Staff Recommendation

A property must meet at least three of the 16 criteria used to evaluate eligibility for landmark designation, and this assessment determines that 819 Freeman Dr meets this threshold. Further research may reveal additional significance associated with this property.



Figure 1: Front facade of 819 Freeman



New Woodlawn Hills Golf Course This Winter

Another gelf course is promised for on Woodlawn avenue to what has San Antonio. A total of 120 arres of land in Waring Hills, a new public on little Estates, but now named "Woodlawn are now in the Bandra road, has been set aside by the owners, George Hagelstein and Henry Hagelstein, for a new gelf chub, it was announced Saturday. The magnificient residence on the crest of Waring Hills, erected several years ago by Bruce Waring, well-known writer who later removed to California, will be available as a club house, it was stated.

The extended paring will be carried in grounds at the request of the San Antonio Gelf Association. In comments and training units and tourists who prefer a private grounds to the more congested municality and the course with middle parking, making later removed to California, will be available as a club house, it was stated.

George Hagelstein and Henry Hagel
The extended paring will be carried ing unon the site Mr. Bredemus, said:

[i]

ДJ

in e

bu. l

vat rough res 8,

available as a club house, it was stated.

George Hagelstein and Henry Hagelstein, together with Judge C. A. lavies, have begun the work of organizing the new club which will be capitalized for \$80,000. The club will be espen to members and to all others upon the payment of a fee.

It was stated Saturday by George Hagelstein that the project has the endorsement of the Chamber of Commerce and other San Autonio civic bodies. It is probable, he added, that the course may be made ready for play by January 1. Highestein that the project has the endersement of the Chamber of Commerce and other San Antonio civic badies. It is probable, he added, that the course may be made ready for play by January 1.

The extension payement payement surrounding the club-house there are lot Counders and others.

The extended paring will be carried west passing West End Lake on the north, and cut to the Bandera Road and Woodlawn Hills. The contemplated paring an Cincinnati avenue around the wouth side of the lake will thus complete a loop around this body of water. This improvement is in keeping with

and their guests.

The 110-acre golf course will be semipublic to provide facilities for tournaments and tourists who prefer a private grounds to the more congested municipal links. The site of the course was selected by John Bredemus, golfing authority, who made an inspection of the grounds at the request of the San Antonio Golf Association. In commentation upon the site Mr. Bredemus sold.

Antonio Golf Asseciation. In commenting upon the site Mr. Bredemus said:

"There is a tract in this locality with many fine Oak and Hackberry trees, with a number of dev creek heds and with good rolling land. There is no doubt that a fine golf course could be constructed on this part of the estate."

WAMAN DIDIAMATIC

Figure 2: San Antonio Light 30 July 1922, featuring the Waring Estate in the background of image





Figure 3: San Antonio Light, 14 February 1929





Figure 4: San Antonio Light, 7 March 1943



Obituaries

Final rites were conducted Monday at Porter Loring hapel for James "Buddy" Calau, 76, of 819 Freeman, promisent San Antonio rancher and livestock official.

Callan, a native of Menard and resident of San Antonio he past 35 years, died Saturlay at a local hospital. He was a representative of the Stock Yards Loan co. of Kansas City many years, manager of Cassidy Livestock Commission co. of San Antonio for 15 years, and owned ranches in Menard and Atascosa county.

Survivors include widow, Ila Mae; stepsons, Marty Seay and Haby Seay, San Antonio; prother, Lawrence Callan, Menard, and sisters, Mrs. Auprey Leveridge, East Bernard, and Mrs. Ray Holland, Junction.

Graveside services and internent were Monday afternoon n Menard.

Brudford O. Surge 66 of Figure 5: San Antonio Light, 7 November 1960





Figure 6: Joventina "Willie" (left) and Lonzo "TK" (right) Gonzales, courtesy www.findagrave.com.